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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: What we are going

          3  to do is try to consolidate this and if everybody

          4  testifies very, very briefly, then we will deal with

          5  it that way, otherwise we are going to have to wait

          6  until some time into the late afternoon or the

          7  evening when we finish all other work.

          8                 So, should I proceed to take your

          9  testimony in an abbreviated way now? Is that okay?

         10  Does anybody object to that?

         11                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: What does it

         12  involve?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It involves

         14  sitting down at the table and in a brief and

         15  abbreviated manner telling us whether you are for or

         16  against it, and in the balance of 43 seconds telling

         17  us why.

         18                 I am obviously exaggerating, but it

         19  doesn't work unless everybody agrees that their

         20  testimony will be abbreviated.

         21                 All right, so that being the case,

         22  have you all signed in?

         23                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: No.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, would

         25  you please sign in so I can take your testimony, and
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          2  please indicate whether you are testifying for or

          3  against.

          4                 May I have your attention, please,

          5  ladies and gentlemen. Please sign up to testify

          6  quietly, because we have other business that we have

          7  to take care of.

          8                 All right, let us now begin. May we

          9  first call the Department of Business Services.

         10                 Sir, would you press the button in

         11  and bring the mic close to you, and would you

         12  identify yourself?

         13                 DEPUTY ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER

         14  GLATTER: Sure. My name is George Glatter, I am

         15  Deputy Assistant Commissioner at the Department of

         16  Business Services.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I just want to

         18  tell everybody that Barbara Wolff, who would

         19  ordinarily testify, who is the Director in charge of

         20  this part of the process, is unfortunately

         21  hospitalized now at Sloan-Kettering. So, please

         22  extend her good health in your prayers.

         23                 DEPUTY ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER

         24  GLATTER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And please tell
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          2  Barbara that I hope that she is well and she beats

          3  this.

          4                 DEPUTY ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER

          5  GLATTER: I shall.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Now, this is the

          7  public hearing on the BID for what location, sir?

          8                 DEPUTY ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER

          9  GLATTER: Columbus Avenue from 67th to 82nd Street.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right. Has

         11  the time for people to file objections to the BID,

         12  is that currently in place?

         13                 DEPUTY ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER

         14  GLATTER: That we commenced at the close to today's

         15  hearing.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay. Then there

         17  is absolutely nothing that you can add, except for

         18  us to stand by and listen to the testimony; is that

         19  right?

         20                 DEPUTY ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER

         21  GLATTER: Right. And you will have to answer the four

         22  questions, which is, whether notice of public

         23  hearing --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I have been doing

         25  that since I was 13.
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          2                 DEPUTY ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER

          3  GLATTER: Right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay. We will do

          5  that at the end. That appropriately is done at the

          6  end. Right, George?

          7                 DEPUTY ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER

          8  GLATTER: Yes. That the people who are here to speak

          9  will probably cover all of the information about the

         10  BID and the properties.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay. Thank you

         12  very much, George.

         13                 DEPUTY ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER

         14  GLATTER: Thank you very much, George.

         15                 DEPUTY ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER

         16  GLATTER: Okay.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And please tell

         18  Barbara, you know, we pray for her good health.

         19                 Dorreen Greenledge, are you for or

         20  against it?

         21                 MS. GREENLEDGE: For.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, it

         23  just didn't say.

         24                 Madge Rosenberg, for or against?

         25                 MS. ROSENBERG: Against.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Carvel Moore, all

          3  right that is in favor. All right, I would like Gary

          4  Allen and Madge Rosenberg, could you both come up,

          5  please?

          6                 Good morning. Would you each identify

          7  yourselves.

          8                 MS. ROSENBERG: I am Madge Rosenberg.

          9  I own a bakery at 104 West 70th Street.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: You own a bakery

         11  where?

         12                 MS. ROSENBERG: 104 West 70th Street.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And is that

         14  within the geographical confines of the BID?

         15                 MS. ROSENBERG: It was until we

         16  objected, then they changed the confines of the BID.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So it is not

         18  included in the BID?

         19                 MS. ROSENBERG: As of this moment, no.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right.

         21                 Sir?

         22                 MR. ALLEN: I am Gary Allen from Pug

         23  Brothers, 265 Columbus Avenue.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And is that

         25  within the --
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          2                 MR. ALLEN: Yes, it is.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Ma'am, it is not

          4  in the confines of the BID, so perhaps you can just

          5  briefly express the reason for your opposition.

          6                 MS. ROSENBERG: I am opposed, because,

          7  first of all, it originally was in the BID, and the

          8  area from 82nd to 86th was in the BID and when these

          9  people, and we, some of us right off the avenue

         10  objected, they cut us out of the BID because we

         11  didn't want it. Now, if this BID is put into place,

         12  it will very much affect us, so I don't see how we

         13  could not be heard on this issue.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: How would it hurt

         15  you, Ma'am?

         16                 MS. ROSENBERG: It would hurt us by

         17  anything they do in the neighborhood, by the control

         18  they will have in the neighborhood, by the fact that

         19  they can raise funds from a building in which I am a

         20  tenant, that the building I am in fronts on Columbus

         21  Avenue, so any expense would certainly be passed on

         22  to me by a landlord.

         23                 It also affects me by this "public

         24  relations" campaign they have talked about. Any

         25  image they create for Columbus Avenue is certainly
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          2  going to impact on me.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you.

          4                 Sir?

          5                 MR. ALLEN: I just want the right to

          6  make decisions for my own business. And I don't know

          7  what they are going to do for us. I have been told

          8  different things. They came to my store after I

          9  signed a petition against it, I was listed as being

         10  a stark supporter of the BID, and Paula Campbell

         11  came by with a petition this winter and I gladly

         12  signed it because no one ever asked me whether I was

         13  for it or against it. The next week I had six people

         14  in black coming to me, leaning on me, about signing

         15  the petition, telling me I had been for it, and that

         16  she had lied to me and that is why I should -- so, I

         17  said she had just been there, my wife had told me, I

         18  had been away, that she had just been there and left

         19  some materials so they demanded the material. I

         20  reached for it and my wife took it back saying that

         21  she wanted to read it first, so I am listed on the

         22  list of people who are for this BID, all of the

         23  people that are listed for it, I am listed as having

         24  concealed Campbell material from BID Committee and

         25  that frightens me. I feel that we should be able to
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          2  make our own decisions and if the decision be to

          3  withhold information from the BID Committee, okay.

          4                 I am against it.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 MR. ALLEN: Okay.

          8                 MS. ROSENBERG: Is this it? Because I

          9  had a few things --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes. Is there

         11  anything else that you wanted to say?

         12                 MS. ROSENBERG: Why is this BID needed

         13  in an area that is so prosperous?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Ma'am, this is a

         15  decision for the community to make and then

         16  ultimately we will vote on whether or not we agree

         17  with or disagree with the application for BID

         18  approval.

         19                 The purpose of the BID is to help the

         20  business community within a confined geographical

         21  area better compete and improve its business

         22  conditions. It is not for me to tell you whether it

         23  is good or bad for you, this is a decision that the

         24  people living and utilizing are conducting business

         25  within that area have to decide.
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          2                 MS. ROSENBERG: Well, what do I do

          3  with the 30 letters I have in opposition and more

          4  coming? These are 30 --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, I am going

          6  to announce at the end that there is a process that

          7  you have to follow where you have to file your

          8  objections with the Office of the City Clerk. So you

          9  might want to wait for that and these people will

         10  then.

         11                 MS. ROSENBERG: Can we give any of our

         12  reasons for opposition for the BID at this time or

         13  is that done at some other point? I mean, if

         14  everybody is going to come and present the reasons

         15  for the BID, is there any way for us to speak in

         16  opposition or to contend --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I thought you

         18  just did.

         19                 MS. ROSENBERG: I didn't. All you

         20  asked is whether I was here.

         21                 MR. ALLEN: I did.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, Ma'am, do

         23  you want to tell us why you are opposed to it? I

         24  just ask that you try and do it briefly.

         25                 MS. ROSENBERG: Okay, I will do it
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          2  fast. There is no plan. Every plan they propose when

          3  we said they want trees, we have trees, they want to

          4  do PR, we have the Rebok Club, the biggest movie

          5  theater in the country, the highest grossing

          6  theater, the Sony Theater at one end, the Museum of

          7  Natural History at the other, why do we need people

          8  to come and spend 29 percent of the allocation for

          9  the BID on the administrative cost and then they say

         10  they are going to do something to bring in people to

         11  a neighborhood that is so crowded with people and

         12  traffic right now, that it amazes me that business

         13  people are coming to call for it. It is one of the

         14  most flourishing prosperous parts of the City. It is

         15  a City where merchants take pride in taking care of

         16  businesses. We have one big supermarket left in the

         17  whole neighborhood, it is mainly a residential area,

         18  that supermarket, which was recently expanded came

         19  out against the BID, the man is a property owner, he

         20  is against the BID, most of the big successful

         21  restaurants have come out against the BID. Steve

         22  Hanson runs two of the biggest restaurants in the

         23  neighborhood, Billy K who owns three long-time

         24  restaurants on Columbus Avenue has come out against

         25  the BID; what is the reason for this BID in the
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          2  neighborhood like this? I don't know.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, thank you.

          4  Thank you very much.

          5                 All right, now, Gerry Grant. Carvel

          6  Moore and Dorreen Greenidge.

          7                 Ms. Greenidge, would you identify

          8  yourself, your affiliation, and then would you

          9  briefly testify?

         10                 MS. GREENIDGE: Yes, certainly, Mr.

         11  Chairman. I am Dorreen Greenidge, Senior Policy

         12  Analyst with C. Virginia Fields who is the Borough

         13  President of Manhattan, and I am here in short to

         14  express my office's support and Virginia's support

         15  for the creation of a Columbus Avenue Business

         16  Improvement District.

         17                 I am not going to read, I know your

         18  time is an issue here, but she supports the Finance

         19  Committee for setting the hearing, giving an

         20  opportunity for all to be heard, and she wishes that

         21  providing support continues and remains firm that

         22  you approve the creation of this district.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: We have your copy

         24  of your testimony and we will make it part of the

         25  record.
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          2                 MS. GREENIDGE: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Ma'am.

          4  And please send our best to the Borough President.

          5                 MS. GREENIDGE: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, now,

          7  Jerry Grant.

          8                 MR. GRANT: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Would you

         10  identify yourself, sir?

         11                 MR. GRANT: Jerry Grant. I am vice

         12  president of the Gallery of Exciting Jewelry on

         13  Columbus Avenue. I have been in that location for 12

         14  years, and I have seen business consistently go down

         15  the past 12 years, and I sort of blame it on the

         16  fact that there is no organization, no group, and

         17  the program's example would be to walk on Columbus

         18  Avenue during the Christmas shopping season, there

         19  are no lights, no indications that it is a festive

         20  shopping area.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Grant, you

         22  heard Ms. Rosenberg's testimony, she said just the

         23  opposite. She said that in her opinion business has

         24  flourished.

         25                 MR. GRANT: Her business has
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          2  flourished? What does she sell? She sells bread.

          3  People always have to eat bread.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So your testimony

          5  is that your business has diminished and you

          6  attribute it to the fact that there is a failure to

          7  --

          8                 MR. GRANT: There are no more tourists

          9  on the street, there are no more shoppers on the

         10  street, the street has become pretty much like a

         11  strip mall. You have Banana Republic, the Gap,

         12  stores that are in shopping malls, and people don't

         13  have to come to Columbus Avenue for that, they can

         14  go to any mall, they can --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So, it is your

         16  opinion that the BID would help business flourish?

         17                 MR. GRANT: Well, I see Columbus

         18  Avenue in its prime when there were mom and pop

         19  shops, all designer, it was similar to SoHo at the

         20  time. As you go to SoHo, every store has its own

         21  little flair. People go there because there is

         22  something special about each shop.

         23                 You go to Columbus Avenue and there

         24  is nothing special about any shop anymore, except

         25  for mine. Most of the shops have --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, Mr. Grant,

          3  I must tell you that the name certainly was unique

          4   --

          5                 MR. GRANT: Most of the shops are

          6  commercial now. The same, you can go on Columbus

          7  Avenue, you can go on Broadway, you can go on

          8  Lexington Avenue, you can find the same Banana

          9  Republic, the same Gap, and it is the same, there is

         10  no reason for them to come there.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I understand.

         12                 MR. GRANT: I think that enhances the

         13  street, puts out maybe lights or little trees on the

         14  light polls like they do on Madison Avenue during

         15  the Christmas shopping --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So you feel it

         17  would be a help to business?

         18                 MR. GRANT: I think it has got to

         19  help. Something has got to help. Nothing is helping

         20  now, it is only getting worse.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, sir.

         22                 Carvel Moore.

         23                 MS. MOORE: My name is Carvel Moore,

         24  and I have served as a consultant to the sponsor

         25  group for the Columbus Avenue BID over the last two
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          2  and a half years. I am not going to go into the

          3  whole history, I do have my remarks written out. But

          4  I want to respect your timetable.

          5                 Just you should know that during 1995

          6  and '96 when the whole avenue was closed down, the

          7  total reconstruction, a lot of the stores went out

          8  of business and most of the rest of them who stayed

          9  and are still there have told me that business has

         10  never come back.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That is the

         12  street closed down when they were doing the street

         13  replacement of sewers.

         14                 MS. MOORE: Exactly so, yes.

         15                 So, in the fall of '96, with that

         16  reconstruction almost complete, the Steering

         17  Committee got itself together again after having

         18  started all of this in 1992, and began to meet with

         19  the community board and with the merchants again,

         20  discovered that there was severe opposition north of

         21  82nd Street, and as Mrs. Rosenberg said, we simply

         22  took out the people who said they really don't want

         23  to be part of this BID. I mean, we are trying to

         24  create a BID that is going to be solid and workable,

         25  addresses the goals of --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I think that Ms.

          3  Rosenberg said that her landlord fronts on Columbus

          4  Avenue --

          5                 MS. MOORE: That's correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Therefore she

          7  will be impacted by an increase in rent; is that

          8  correct?

          9                 MS. MOORE: No, she should not be

         10  because the BID boundaries are, the assessment is

         11  calculated on the front --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: On the front,

         13  okay.

         14                 MS. MOORE: And 50 feet into the

         15  block, and she is beyond the 50 foot line.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay.

         17                 MS. MOORE: So there wouldn't be any

         18  way, but besides which her landlord isn't going to

         19  pass this along even if she were within the BID she

         20  wouldn't be charged. Some of the landlords are not

         21  going to pass it on.

         22                 The Merchants Committee that was

         23  formed at that time has continued to be very, very

         24  active. We have a majority of merchants who are in

         25  support, many of them are here today to testify.
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          2  There are still those who are opposed. Mr. Allen

          3  from Pug Brothers Popcorn was originally in favor.

          4  He certainly did sign a letter of support many years

          5  ago, but then recently he changed his mind because

          6  there has been some recent opposition based on

          7  erroneous information being passed around about the

          8  district.

          9                 But let me give you finally a summary

         10  quickly. Of the 88 tax lots and 54 owners, 70

         11  percent of lots and 72 percent of owners support

         12  this district in writing.

         13                 Ten owners have given no response,

         14  two owners are undecided, two opposed, and one-half

         15  of a co-op corporation is opposed.

         16                 There are now 183 merchants. There

         17  were 201 when I started working with these folks. We

         18  are down to 183 now, of whom 127 have given their

         19  support in writing and a number of others, about 32

         20  of them verbally. We have support from the Manhattan

         21  Borough President, C. Virginia Fields, from the

         22  American Museum of Natural History, from the West

         23  Side Chamber of Commerce, from the New York

         24  Historical Society.

         25                 These people have been at the
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          2  formation of this BID for so long, and they are

          3  still as determined as when we began. The reasons

          4  behind the formation of the BID are as valid as ever

          5  and I hope you can support it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 MS. MOORE: And I have my remarks in

          9  writing for you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Would you give it

         11  to the Sergeant-At-Arms over there.

         12                 Okay, Paul Klein, Andrew Albin and

         13  Elma Glynn. By the way, if you merely want to say

         14  that you are supportive or not supportive of the

         15  BID, you are welcome to just say that. There is no

         16  compulsion for you to go into any expressed

         17  testimony.

         18                 Sir, would you start with your name,

         19  please.

         20                 MR. KLEIN: Paul Klein from Exotica,

         21  284 Columbus Avenue.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes, sir.

         23                 MR. KLEIN: We have been on the avenue

         24  for over seven years now, and also have seen the

         25  City decline in business. It seems that the
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          2  pedestrian flow has decreased after the

          3  reconstruction of the avenue. My feeling is that a

          4  BID will help improve the whole concept of Columbus

          5  Avenue as a shopping district.

          6                 In order to pull together some sort

          7  of community, some sort of concept that Columbus

          8  Avenue should be a destination for shoppers, I think

          9  that is what the BID's main goal will be, to help

         10  the businesses on the avenue. Again my business has

         11  dropped off dramatically over the past few years.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So, it is your

         13  sense that this will --

         14                 MR. KLEIN: Absolutely improve us,

         15  yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, sir.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, Mr. Andrew

         18  Albin.

         19                 MR. ALBERT: I am Andrew Albert.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I am sorry,

         21  Albert.

         22                 MR. ALBERT: That's okay. I am the

         23  Executive Director of the West Side Chamber of

         24  Commerce.

         25                 We support the BID. Many of our
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          2  members on Columbus Avenue have told us they are in

          3  favor of the BID. As you heard from speaker after

          4  speaker, during the reconstruction project we lost

          5  35 to 37 stores on the avenue.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So you basically

          7  agree with the prior testimony of those people?

          8                 MR. ALBERT: Absolutely. And we have

          9  three major shopping streets on the west side,

         10  Columbus, Amsterdam and Broadway, and as Columbus

         11  has receded the others have come up and we would

         12  like to see Columbus regain its past stature.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And it is your

         14  feeling that this will result in that taking place?

         15                 MR. ALBERT: Well, they plan to do a

         16  great deal of marketing, and I am sure they will. I

         17  believe them, and I think it is going to make a

         18  difference.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, sir.

         20                 Elma Glynn.

         21                 MS. GLYNN: Hi. I own a store in

         22  Columbus since the spring of '95. I moved in when

         23  the construction started and --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Timing is

         25  everything.
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          2                 MS. GLYNN: I know. It was really,

          3  really bad, and I was hoping it would improve over

          4  time.

          5                 I have done a lot of promotion and

          6  marketing personally. I do think the BID would

          7  somehow enhance Columbus Avenue and the whole image

          8  of the West Side. I am also partner in another store

          9  in SoHo and I occasionally catch a lot of my

         10  customers shopping there, and I ask what are you

         11  doing here? And they are like, there is nothing good

         12  on the west side. I constantly hear that. So, I do

         13  think the BID will help Columbus Avenue's image and

         14  with the organization with promotion and just

         15  overall image of the avenue and that is what I hope

         16  to gain from this.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you very

         18  much, Ma'am. Thank you, people.

         19                 Okay, Salvatore Padillo, Dave Doctor,

         20  and Robert Quinlan.

         21                 Salvatore Padillo?

         22                 MR. PERILLO: Salvatore Perillo.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Perillo, I am

         24  sorry. Today is not my day for reading correctly.

         25                 MR. PERILLO: Good morning. I am the
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          2  owner of a restaurant on Columbus Avenue for the

          3  last six years Seniore Swenkeys.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: What is the name

          5  of it?

          6                 MR. PERILLO: Seniore' Swenkeys.

          7                 Anyway, I have been there, and I also

          8  moved in during the beginning of the construction

          9  project. My support of the BID is obviously for the

         10  fact that it will give Columbus Avenue an identity,

         11  but more importantly, to me it gives us an extension

         12  of an arm of an outreach to the City of New York.

         13  Through that person that we hire as a director, he

         14  will be the voice of 183 merchants, as opposed to a

         15  single merchant trying to address --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And you heard the

         17  testimony before you?

         18                 MR. PERILLO: And my answer to that

         19  testimony is through living through the Columbus

         20  Avenue reconstruction project when we had begged as

         21  a group of 201 merchants at the time to see the

         22  Mayor, our efforts were thwarted, we never had an

         23  audience with them, we only got to see Fran Reiter,

         24  which was somewhat helpful but nothing ever ended up

         25  happening. At this point if it reaches the City in a
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          2  better way than ourselves can do it, I am 100

          3  percent for it.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, sir.

          6                 Dave Doctor.

          7                 MR. DOCTOR: Hi. I am a very active

          8  resident in the area in terms of wanting the streets

          9  to be clean, and that is what this BID means to me,

         10  just cleanliness. I mean, what this BID means to me,

         11  as I spoke of last time is garbage bags. Right now

         12  we have garbage cans, you know, people throw their

         13  gum it goes right through, they throw their

         14  beverages it goes right through, so finally we will

         15  have people that the other BIDs have going around

         16  with garbage bags, you know, when it gets full,

         17  taking them out and putting in a new garbage bag.

         18                 Also, there are a lot of people with

         19  brooms and dust pans. I mean right now you have

         20  people and they just go out there, you know, a lot

         21  of the merchants, they just sweep the stuff into the

         22  street, that is really not helpful. What you will

         23  have is a bunch of people working for the BID out

         24  there to help me get the streets clean, with brooms

         25  and dust pans, you know really effectively cleaning
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          2  the street, not sweeping it into each other's plots

          3  of land or into the street.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Have you had an

          5  opportunity to examine the streets within the

          6  geographical confines of other BIDs?

          7                 MR. DOCTOR: Yes, yes. It is great. I

          8  love going to 42nd and SoHo and seeing those people,

          9  you know, with their trash cans. I mean it is so

         10  ingenuous, even the way they handle the trash. They

         11  take it out, they put it on the side --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: May I suggest

         13  that you are about to strike Mr. Quinlan --

         14                 MR. DOCTOR: Sorry.

         15                 I mean, it is so frustrating. I mean,

         16  right now I am very active in the way that when I go

         17  out on the street I am on cleaning detail. I mean, I

         18  rip down the signs the people put up, I spray over

         19  graffiti, I have done that for ten years now,

         20  overall I spray over graffiti, and what this means

         21  to me is that people that will help, they will go

         22  out, they will sweep the trash out and that it will

         23  just make life so much better, so much cleaner. My

         24  apartment is clean, I want the streets to be clean

         25  also. So, that's what it means to me. Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, sir.

          4                 Mr. Quinlan.

          5                 MR. QUINLAN: I am head of the

          6  Steering Committee, Robert Quinlan, for the BID, and

          7  he has just been appointed head of the sanitation

          8  committee.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I somehow saw

         10  that coming.

         11                 MR. QUINLAN: Yes. I don't want to go

         12  through the whole process of extolling the features

         13  of this particular BID, it is quite unique to itself

         14  what it needs. It is small, the budget is $208,000 a

         15  year, but I do want to mention one aspect of it, and

         16  that is the expansion and growth of the Museum of

         17  Natural History, which we love as a neighbor. But

         18  the three and a half million people who visit it

         19  every year, and that will increase enormously when

         20  they finish their construction --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes. Well, one

         22  would assume that will have a major impact on the

         23  west side.

         24                 MR. QUINLAN: Even today they do not

         25  come on to Columbus Avenue to shop. We will have
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          2  maps guiding people, they will be in the museum

          3  which will cooperate with us, and Columbus Avenue

          4  identity can be reinforced through this maps and

          5  promotions.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you. Thank

          8  you, gentlemen.

          9                 George Beane, Melanie Radley and

         10  Nikos Pharasles.

         11                 All right, Mr. Beane. Would you

         12  identify yourself first, please.

         13                 MR. BEANE: My name is George Beane. I

         14  own a building on Columbus Avenue. I have owned a

         15  building on Columbus Avenue for the past 22 years

         16  and I have lived in the neighborhood for 27 years. I

         17  have been on the Steering Committee from the start,

         18  in part because I know that BIDs have worked very

         19  well, many BIDs have worked well in the City and in

         20  other cities, and I think there is a need for the

         21  same here. The woman who spoke against the BID is

         22  right in the fact that we have a very strong

         23  community economically. It has just changed

         24  enormously since I have been there in 27 years. But

         25  the other merchants who spoke in favor of it are
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          2  right in that the retail merchants continue to

          3  struggle.

          4                 What I think the BID will do, apart

          5  from the specifics that have been outlined are to

          6  bring building owners and retailers together so that

          7  we will be able to hear each other, and also so that

          8  there will be a common voice.

          9                 Right now there is a Banana Republic

         10  and a few large stores, but most of what is on

         11  Columbus Avenue are small stores in small buildings

         12  owned by individual owners, they are not big

         13  retailers and they are not big owners. So, we need a

         14  place to come together to hear what other people's

         15  problems are.

         16                 If this BID does not work for some

         17  reason, then we will drop it. But I think it will be

         18  very successful and a big help to our merchants.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, sir.

         20                 Melanie Radley.

         21                 MS. RADLEY: I am Melanie Radley, and

         22  I am basically a Columbus Avenue shopper and west

         23  side resident and I was one of those menacing people

         24  that supposedly was in black that went in to talk to

         25  Popcorn about the BID. You have my written remarks.
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          2  I am here simply because I know what a vacuum has

          3  been created since the banks went out of the

          4  business of supporting small businesses. I used to

          5  work with Chemical Bank and I had a very active

          6  small business program that worked with neighborhood

          7  businesses, did the PR, did marketing, did

          8  promotions, there has been a vacuum and Columbus

          9  Avenue has suffered because of it.

         10                 Retail environment is such that the

         11  one way we are going to protect 21 percent of mom

         12  and pop service stores that are remaining on

         13  Columbus Avenue is to have the kind of promotion

         14  that is going to help them. Keeping them there is

         15  about business conditions.

         16                 Mom and pops are here today because

         17  other retail stores have been bringing traffic to

         18  the area. If our retail stores and restaurants

         19  disappear, they are 78 percent of Columbus Avenue,

         20  it won't be the BID that drives out mom and pops, it

         21  will be the lack of business.

         22                 Actually all this BID is set up to do

         23  is to encourage people and eat and bank, buy their

         24  sundries and get their cleaning done on Columbus,

         25  water and care for the trees and planting. And there
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          2  is a peculiar irony about all of us being here

          3  today, if there were a successful BID on Columbus

          4  Avenue, it wouldn't need advocates like us to

          5  describe what is really there. You all would know.

          6  In fact, you might even be one of us who shop on

          7  Columbus and support the BID.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Before we go to

          9  the next speaker, Ms. Rosenberg, those are letters

         10  of objection from merchants?

         11                 (Ms. Rosenberg is speaking from the

         12  audience not into the microphone.)

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: No, no, no.

         14  Excuse me. We are not taking your testimony again, I

         15  just may have given you wrong advice.

         16                 Letters of objection from merchants

         17  we will accept. From the owners, they should file

         18  their objections with the City Clerk.

         19                 So, Gil, where are you?

         20                 MR. VALDEZ: Here.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Would you give

         22  your letters of objections from the merchants to

         23  Gil, who is the attorney for the Committee. Okay,

         24  thank you.

         25                 Sir, could you give your name,
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          2  please.

          3                 MR. PHARASLES: Nikos Pharasles. I am

          4  both a resident and a business owner of the City

          5  Grill on Columbus Avenue and I live at 400 West End

          6  Avenue within the BID. And not to reiterate what has

          7  already been said in favor, I think that a coherent

          8  focus voice will represent businesses better than

          9  any single or group of business owners, and we are

         10  in quite accord with the bid and in favor of it and

         11  believe it will enhance the neighborhood.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 Thank you, people.

         15                 Barbara Adler and Vivian Trilling.

         16                 Good morning. Would you each identify

         17  yourselves.

         18                 MS. ADLER: Hi. I am Barbara Adler.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, Ms. Adler,

         20  do you want to testify?

         21                 MS. ADLER: As a former chair,

         22  co-chair of Community Board 7's Transportation

         23  Committee, I was very closely involved with the

         24  Columbus Reconstruction Project. I won't go into

         25  great detail, a lot of other people have covered
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          2  that area. But I was extremely aware of how

          3  devastating the project was for businesses on the

          4  Avenue.

          5                 I am also a director at the West Side

          6  Chamber of Commerce. I have gotten to know a lot of

          7  the merchants on the Avenue, and I know firsthand

          8  that many of them are really hurting. I am here

          9  representing just myself as an individual. I live in

         10  the area, shop in the area and I think that there is

         11  a terrific opportunity here with this BID,

         12  especially in light of the Museum of Natural

         13  History's new project which will be a worldwide

         14  magnet to bring in loads of new people in the

         15  neighborhood and we want to make sure those people

         16  don't jump in a cab and go to the east side for

         17  lunch, that they stay and walk down the Avenue.

         18                 I think that a BID, a creative BID

         19  can use marketing devices, tools, to create, some

         20  kind of a law to create an identity for the avenue,

         21  similar to Madison Avenue or SoHo. Not to make it

         22  all the same, not at all, but to make it, give it a

         23  focus and make sure that all of the people who come

         24  to the museum stay there and eat there and shop

         25  there.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you.

          3                 Viviance Triling, you are the last

          4  speaker.

          5                 MS. TRILING: I have a small dress

          6  store on 70th and 71st. I moved in '95, so I had a

          7  very rough time the two first years, and I now have

          8  one more left on my lease, and I hope to stay and

          9  this BID would definitely help all of our small

         10  business owners.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 All right, I have a statement to read

         14  now which I am required by law to read, and this

         15  contains the process, as I explained to Ms.

         16  Rosenberg and that other gentleman when they

         17  testified.

         18                 The public hearing to consider both

         19  the plan itself and the enacting legislation

         20  according to the provisions of the law is to be

         21  closed without a vote. The Committee then must wait

         22  at least 30 days before it can again consider and

         23  possibly vote to approve this legislation, or

         24  disapprove it.

         25                 The 30-day period immediately after
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          2  this public hearing serves as an objection period.

          3  Any property owner, that is property owner, may

          4  during this time period formerly object to the plan

          5  by filing such objection in the office of the City

          6  Clerk on forms provided by the City Clerk.

          7                 The City Clerk's Office, by the way,

          8  is in the municipal building.

          9                 In the event that either at least 51

         10  percent of the total number of property owners or

         11  owners with at least 51 percent of the assessed

         12  valuation of all of the benefitted real property

         13  within the district object to the plan, then the

         14  City Council is prohibited by law from approving

         15  such plan.

         16                 When the Committee considers this

         17  legislation after the conclusion of the objection

         18  period, it must answer the following four questions:

         19                 1) were all notices appearing for all

         20  hearings required to held, published and mailed as

         21  so required?

         22                 2) Does all the real property within

         23  the district's boundaries benefit from the

         24  establishment of the district, except as otherwise

         25  provided by law?
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          2                 3) Is all real property benefitted by

          3  the district included within the district?

          4                 4) and finally, is the establishment

          5  of the district in the best interest of the public?

          6                 If the Committee finds in the

          7  affirmative on these four questions and the number

          8  of objections required to prevent the creation of

          9  such district are not filed, then the legislation

         10  can be adopted.

         11                 This local law takes effect after all

         12  requirements contained in Chapter IV of Title 25 are

         13  complied with.

         14                 All right, thank you ladies and

         15  gentlemen, and thank you for coming in to testify.

         16                 All right, now I would like to get on

         17  to the rest of the agenda today. Sergeants, would

         18  you get all of the members of the Finance Committee

         19  back into the room? Tell Mr. Miller he is

         20  downstairs. I am also advised that the Land Use

         21  Committee is next door.

         22                 All right, we have several Land Use

         23  items to undertake before us.

         24                 So, Henry, are you going to testify?

         25                 MR. HENDERSON: Henry Henderson,
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          2  Finance Division.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, Henry,

          4  we have several Land Use items.

          5                 MR. HENDERSON: We have four Land Use

          6  items.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay. 408.

          8                 MR. HENDERSON: 408 is a TIL program

          9  in Council Member Foster's district, it is 450, 452

         10  East 165th Street. It is one building, 25 units.

         11  Council Member Foster has approved of this program.

         12  It is a 30-year tax exemption under the TIL program.

         13  In the first year there is no tax exemption. The

         14  total 30-year value is $174,000.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Next we have a

         16  special initiatives, Land Use 412.

         17                 MR. HENDERSON: 412 in Espada and

         18  Foster's districts.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Four buildings,

         20  66 units, a 32-year exemption; is that correct?

         21                 MR. HENDERSON: That is correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: The total

         23  aggregate exemption is $3,769,000.

         24                 MR. HENDERSON: That's correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Next, 413.
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          2  Special initiative program, 942 Leggett Avenue in

          3  the Bronx, it is Council Member Espada's District.

          4  One building, eight units, 32-year exemption, $5,500

          5  for the first year, $285,000 cumulative; is that

          6  correct?

          7                 MR. HENDERSON: That's correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Number 460.

          9  Neighborhood Homes Program. Council Member

         10  Robinson's district, in Brooklyn. Twelve buildings,

         11  31 units, a ten-year exemption, 21,900 the first

         12  year, cumulative of 297,000; is that correct?

         13                 MR. HENDERSON: That is correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: My colleagues,

         15  are there any questions?

         16                 Mr. Henderson, thank you, sir.

         17                 MR. HENDERSON: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Now we have the

         19  preconsidered MN8 and MN9.

         20                 All right, would you each identify

         21  yourselves.

         22                 MS. POREDA: Regina Poreda, Finance

         23  Division.

         24                 MS. NEARY: Lisa Neary, Finance

         25  Division.
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          2                 MS. ANGELO: Larian Angelo, Finance

          3  Division.

          4                 MS. McNEIL: Veronica McNeil, Finance

          5  Division.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Go ahead, Haeda.

          7                 MS. MIHALTSES: Haeda Mihaltses,

          8  Finance Division.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I just want to

         10  say that this is a unique moment in history for the

         11  Finance Committee in that three of the ladies

         12  testifying are all pregnant.

         13                 MS. LEARY: Three that we know of.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Which is an

         15  incredible example of the productivity of the

         16  Finance Division.

         17                 Okay, now can we go ahead?

         18                 MS. MIHALTSES: What we have before us

         19  is MN 8 and MN9. MN8 is the expense revenue, expense

         20  modification. What this does is actually, when the

         21  Mayor released his Executive Budget he also released

         22  changes in the Fiscal '99 budget. The changes

         23  totaled $613,331,408. Included in this is $334.7

         24  million that would be taken from '99 and put into

         25  what we call the budget stabilization account or
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          2  rainy day fund.

          3                 This modification before us actually

          4  shows the actions, the technical adjustments that

          5  were done in Fiscal '99 budget so we can close the

          6  budget and begin the new fiscal year when we vote on

          7  the budget today.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, are there

          9  any questions? Please take a moment to look through

         10  this.

         11                 MN8. Now, Haeda, while they are

         12  looking through that, do you want to do MN9?

         13                 MS. MIHALTSES: Yes, Larian will do

         14  MN9.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Larian, this is

         16  the revenue mod? MN8. That is the $613 million

         17  modification.

         18                 All right, Larian.

         19                 MS. ANGELO: MN9 recognizes $684

         20  million in new revenue. The new revenue increases

         21  comes from increases in tax revenue equal to $459

         22  million, miscellaneous revenue equal $136 million,

         23  unrestricted aid equals $15 million, and prior year

         24  payables equal to $75 million.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And what is the
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          2  aggregate amount?

          3                 MS. ANGELO: $684 million.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And this $684

          5  million, in addition to revenues is --

          6                 MS. ANGELO: The bulk of which

          7  increases comes from tax revenue that reflect the

          8  improved economy in New York City.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And this is going

         10  to enable us when we ultimately do our budget to be

         11  able to help us pay for --

         12                 MS. ANGELO: The additional revenue

         13  will be available to pay for additions in the

         14  Expense Budget and tax policy changes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Any questions?

         16                 Thank you very much, people.

         17                 We are ready to vote. Would someone

         18  get Claude, please. Sergeant, would you ask Claude

         19  to come?

         20                 Oh, I am sorry, we have two more

         21  items to do. Two Banking Commission's resolutions.

         22  Four of them. Four Banking Commission's resolutions.

         23                 Who is going to testify? Can I have

         24  your attention. We now have four of the Banking

         25  Commission resolutions. Sir, identify yourself.
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          2                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPERT: Yes,

          3  my name is Israel Schupert, Associate Commissioner

          4  for Tax Policy of the Department of Finance.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Good morning,

          6  Izzy.

          7                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPERT: Good

          8  morning, Mr. Chairman.

          9                 I am just going to go over the

         10  various resolutions that you will be acting on

         11  today.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, the

         13  first one is M578.

         14                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPERT:

         15  Okay. Well, let me just summarize the various

         16  resolutions, Mr. Chairman.

         17                 One resolution will be for the

         18  nonpayment of real estate taxes where the annual tax

         19  on a parcel is greater than $2,750, regardless of

         20  the annual tax. Or the parcel is a vacant or an

         21  unimproved lot, as well as nonpayment of charges for

         22  work performed pursuant to orders of the Board of

         23  Health or the Department of Health, that will be a

         24  rate of 18 percent.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, so let
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          2  me understand what this MN says.

          3                 If the property is assessed at an

          4  amount in excess where the tax paid is in excess of

          5  $2,750, or if it is vacant and unimproved or the tax

          6  that I held in escrow for --

          7                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPERT:

          8  Well, the last piece that I got is the Board of

          9  Health. If it is a charge imposed by the Board of

         10  Health, or if it is less than $2,750, however, the

         11  property taxes are held in escrow. In all of those

         12  instances, the tax rate on late payment, the

         13  interest rate on late payment is 18 percent.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, now, for a

         15  property to pay tax at $2,750, what has to be its

         16  value?

         17                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPERT:

         18  Well, let's assume ten percent tax rate more or

         19  less, probably around $300,000 in AV -- I mean,

         20  $30,000 in AV and about $300,000 market value

         21  approximately.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right. And

         23  when we talked about the bank where the money is

         24  held in escrow, if the bank screws up, then the bank

         25  would have to pay it, not the taxpayer; is that
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          2  correct?

          3                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPERT:

          4  Well, the bank is responsible for paying those

          5  taxes, yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, is there

          7  any questions on that one?

          8                 Sheldon. We go through this every

          9  year by the way.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: But somehow I

         11  had the impression even ten years ago we set a

         12  benchmark where it would be something like $3,600 a

         13  year. Have we lowered the benchmark above which

         14  there is the 18 percent charge?

         15                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPERT: As

         16  far as I know no. $2,750 threshold has been in

         17  existence for quite a number of years.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: The same

         19  number as in the past.

         20                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPERT: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, any other

         22  questions?

         23                 All right, next item.

         24                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPERT: All

         25  right, the next resolution is for taxes below, not
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          2  more than $2,750, except for the conditions that I

          3  just outlined in the previous resolution. If you are

          4  a home owner, for instance, and your tax is not more

          5  than $2,750, then the charge is nine percent on any

          6  overpayment -- underpayment of taxes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Any questions?

          8                 Next item.

          9                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPERT: The

         10  next item has to do with non-payment of water rents

         11  and sewer rents. As I outlined earlier, I think this

         12  is basically the same interest rates that we

         13  outlined the property taxes. Eighteen percent where

         14  the annual tax is more than $2,750, or the tax is

         15  held in escrow by a mortgage escrow agent, or the

         16  parcel consists of vacant or unimproved land, there

         17  would be an 18 percent interest rate on water and

         18  sewer rents. As well, in addition to that, if the

         19  taxes are less than $2,750, the interest rate of

         20  nine percent applies.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And finally?

         22                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPERT: The

         23  last --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: I have a

         25  question.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Al.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: On vacant

          4  unimproved property let's say where the Board of

          5  Health comes in and cleans up and the property owner

          6  objects to what happened or claims that the property

          7  wasn't cleaned, or in the case of a water bill, that

          8  someone objected to the water bill being too high

          9  because of a broken meter or a leak in the house, if

         10  once they make the protest in the City, are you

         11  telling me, sir, that they are going to have a tax

         12  of 18 percent added on to their money automatically,

         13  even while this thing is being discussed or being --

         14                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPERT:

         15  Well, until it is resolved. If they win on the

         16  challenge then the interest rates is waived. They

         17  will not have to pay any penalty.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: If they don't

         19  win --

         20                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPERT: But

         21  if it is during the process, and the process has not

         22  yet been concluded, that additional surcharge of

         23  nine percent let's say in a smaller home under 18

         24  percent would still apply.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: So, in other
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          2  words, even while a person is fighting it

          3  legitimately, they still are going to stand a chance

          4  of paying 18 percent?

          5                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPERT: Yes.

          6  Until it is resolved.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON McCAFFREY: Are

          8  there any other questions on this item?

          9                 The next item, please.

         10                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER SCHUPERT: This

         11  item has to do with the discount rate for the

         12  prepayment of real estate taxes. It continues to be

         13  two percent for the prepayment of real estate taxes.

         14  If you pay your taxes 30 days earlier or more than

         15  the due date, you are entitled to a two percent

         16  discount on your tax bill.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON McCAFFREY: Are

         18  there any questions on this? There are no questions

         19  on this?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, if

         21  there be no other questions, then let me just make a

         22  general announcement.

         23                 During the course of the day I am

         24  going to convene the Finance Committee from time to

         25  time so that we don't have all of the work done in
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          2  one lump. As it becomes available I will convene the

          3  session so that we can deal with it.

          4                 Now we are going to vote on the

          5  following: The preconsidered MN8, preconsidered MN9.

          6  By the way, on the BID I set the 30-day clock

          7  running. Land Use 408, 412, 413 and 416, and the

          8  four Banking resolutions, M578, 579, 580 and 581.

          9                 Roll call.

         10                 Oh, I am sorry, there is one other.

         11  We have a preconsidered, who is going to testify on

         12  that? The tobacco. Okay, sit down.

         13                 I am sorry, do you want to identify

         14  yourself?

         15                 MS. HENNING: Marjorie Henning, New

         16  York City Office of Management and Budget, Counsel.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay. Could you

         18  --

         19                 MS. HENNING: Yes, I will explain the

         20  bill.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: We are talking

         22  about preconsidered intro.

         23                 MS. HENNING: The preconsidered intro

         24  before you today would authorize the Mayor to sell

         25  the City's rights to receive payments under the
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          2  National Tobacco Settlement Agreement. The rights to

          3  receive these payments would be purchased by a

          4  not-for-profit local development corporation, the

          5  Tobacco Settlement Assets Curitization Corporation.

          6                 In return for these payments, the

          7  Corporation would issue bonds and return the

          8  proceeds of the bonds to the City in order to allow

          9  the City to continue to finance its capital program.

         10                 Because it is currently forecast that

         11  the City will reach its debt limit in FY 2000, these

         12  bond proceeds are necessary to allow the City to

         13  finance this capital program for the next few years

         14  until the City can reach an agreement with the state

         15  regarding the new debt limit.

         16                 It is currently forecast that the

         17  appropriations bonds will yield $625 million for the

         18  capital program each year for the next four years.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Do you have

         20  anything to add?

         21                 Are there any questions?

         22                 Mr. McCaffrey.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Can you

         24  tell us, other than the Mayor and the Comptroller

         25  and the Speaker who the rest of the directories are
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          2  on this new corporation?

          3                 MS. HENNING: I don't believe that a

          4  final determination has been made on that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And who

          6  will make the determination?

          7                 MS. HENNING: I believe the Mayor.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Is this in

          9  consultation with the Speaker?

         10                 MS. HENNING: Oh, sure.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: As I am advised.

         13  I wasn't there.

         14                 Okay, any other questions?

         15                 All right, thank you very much.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Mr. Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Ms. Pinkett.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: On the sale

         19  of the --

         20                 MS. HENNING: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: The City to

         22  sell the rights to receive monies in the New York

         23  State Settlement Agreement, it will be just as

         24  stated, will the Council have any discussion on

         25  this?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I have been

          3  advised that the Speaker will be a member of the

          4  Board of Directors and am advised that he will

          5  participate. I haven't spoken to the Speaker, the

          6  staff has told me that he and the Mayor will agree

          7  upon --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Will there be

          9  any broader discussion? Will there be anyone from --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Not that I know

         11  of, unless there is a need to. I know of no other

         12  plans.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Will there be

         14  anyone from health involved in this?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mary, I don't

         16  know.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Mary, we

         18  can't hear what you are saying.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: I was just

         20  asking since a lot of this money came as a result of

         21  the question of health, would there be anyone from

         22  the health community involved in this task force,

         23  which I think is very important, and especially due

         24  to the privatization of this, these dollars, I am

         25  very concerned about how this task force functions,
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          2  how these dollars might be appropriated, and I think

          3  there ought to be a broader expansion as to how the

          4  monies are going to be used.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Unless I am

          6  wrong, I think we should have to keep it in the

          7  appropriate perspective, and that is as follows:

          8  What we are voting on today is a creation

          9  authorizing the sale and the creation of the

         10  development corporation now will be the recipient of

         11  the money. Thereafter, unless I am wrong, the

         12  Council would then have to agree upon the capital

         13  projects that would be funded via this pay-as-go

         14  capital plan.

         15                 The structure is being created to

         16  avoid meeting the debt limit that would inhibit and

         17  stop the capital plan.

         18                 MS. HENNING: That's correct.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: I understand

         20  that. My only concern is that if we hold everything

         21  until after the fact, will that indeed impede our

         22  ability to have real input in terms of what is going

         23  to happen.

         24                 I think so often we have to deal with

         25  these things from a limited aspect and all I would
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          2  ask Mr. Chairman is that we get further information.

          3  I think that because of the fact that this is a

          4  large sum of money, a very important sum of money,

          5  and because it was brought with death and sacrifice

          6  of a lot of people, that it should be considered in

          7  a broader access than just another bond issue that

          8  can be misspent, and I would hope that we would

          9  treat it as such.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Mr.

         11  Chairman, could I just ask a question as a

         12  clarification?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I still, I don't

         14  quite understand what information level, but will be

         15  glad to try and provide it.

         16                 The Council is voting on the capital

         17  plan and this money is going to be utilized to help

         18  pay for it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: I understand

         20  that. I understand that. I am only trying to protect

         21  the capital before it is planned out.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. McCaffrey.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: So, as we

         24  then understand it, we are not talking about the

         25  manner or the purposes in which the money is to be
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          2  spent, but only that a mechanism be spent, or be set

          3  up that would allow us to be able --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That is correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: So that the

          6  secondary decision, which is in many ways the key

          7  one that we are talking about, will be in our hands

          8  at a later date.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Certainly.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Excuse me a

         12  second, Walter.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Assuming the

         15  approval of the tobacco settlement, et cetera, this

         16  money will be utilized to replace a general

         17  obligation.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Understood.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: On the capital

         20  plan that we are voting on today.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Understood.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Any other

         23  questions?

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 Okay, so now, in addition to the
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          2  other items, we also have to vote on the

          3  preconsidered intro concerning the sale of the

          4  tobacco settlement monies.

          5                 So we are voting on that and we are

          6  voting on the MN 8, MN 9. M578, 579, 580, 581, and

          7  Land Use 408, 412, 413 and 416.

          8                 Roll call.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Berman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Pinkett.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Pass.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Spigner.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Aye.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Foster.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Leffler.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Michels.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Eisland.

         22                 (No response.)

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Dear.

         24                 (No response.)

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: O'Donovan.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER O'DONOVAN: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Wooten.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Robles.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: McCaffrey.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Aye.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Miller.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Rodriguez.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Stabile.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Aye.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: The vote stands

         16  at 12 in the affirmative, none in the negative and

         17  is still open.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Ms. Pinkett.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Oh, I am sorry.

         20                 Pinkett.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: The vote stands

         23  at 13 in the affirmative and is still open.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: We are in recess

         25  now, we will be called back into session as the time
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          2  and the day requires. Thank you.

          3                 (Recess taken.)

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Dear.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEAR: Aye.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Eisland.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND: I vote aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: The vote stands

          9  at 15 in the affirmative and is still open.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Would someone

         11  call Mr. Leffler and tell him we are convening. Will

         12  you please ask them to round up the rest of the

         13  members of the Committee or at least a reasonable

         14  number of them?

         15                 Ladies and gentlemen, may I have your

         16  attention, please. We are reconvening the Finance

         17  Committee that was recessed before. We have a number

         18  of other items that we would like to proceed with,

         19  the least of which is the capital and expense

         20  budgets. I think that there is problem some modicum

         21  of interest in those areas.

         22                 Now, the first item that is before us

         23  is the preconsidered resolution authorizing a

         24  permanent sale compensating use tax on clothing and

         25  footwear exemption in the City of New York.
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          2                 Tom, would both of you gentlemen

          3  identify yourselves, please.

          4                 MS. McMAHON: Thomas McMahon, City

          5  Council Finance Division.

          6                 MR. JOY: Patrick Joy, City Council

          7  Finance Division.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Tom, do you want

          9  to testify?

         10                 MR. McMAHON: What is before us this

         11  afternoon, Mr. Chairman, as you said, is the

         12  resolution that will authorize the City to eliminate

         13  the sales tax on clothing and shoes under $110. The

         14  State Legislature passed a law last year that

         15  authorized local governments across the state at the

         16  county level to partake in this program which is the

         17  elimination of the state sales tax, the MTA quarter

         18  percent sales tax, and the City portion of the sales

         19  tax, and this resolution effectively implements

         20  that, the effective date December 1st, which is the

         21  first possible date that we could have implemented

         22  it.

         23                 The cost of that tax reduction will

         24  be approximately $134 million this coming year,

         25  rising to $237 million in the out-years.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Are there any

          3  questions?

          4                 That is a moderately significant

          5  change in tax policy and there are no questions?

          6  Okay.

          7                 Next, Tom, I would appreciate it, as

          8  long as you are there, ladies and gentlemen,

          9  everybody has received this sheet that is entitled

         10  Fiscal Plan Changes, Fiscal 2000 adopted budget. If

         11  you didn't get it, you are about to.

         12                 Sergeant, will you ask Claude to come

         13  up, please.

         14                 All right, does everybody have the

         15  sheet now? Okay, Tom. It is important for you --

         16  folks, can I have your attention. All right, now,

         17  ladies and gentlemen, if I can have your attention.

         18  It is important that you understand the sheet that

         19  is now before you.

         20                 The Fiscal plan that was submitted to

         21  us by the Mayor back in April, and compared to what

         22  we ultimately hope to adopt in the next couple of

         23  hours has been changed by approximately $914

         24  million.

         25                 You may therefore ask how did that
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          2  happen, and how are we paying for that, which is a

          3  reasonable question. I am delighted that you have

          4  asked. I was frankly petrified that somebody would

          5  fail to ask. So, Mr. McCaffrey, again you have come

          6  through.

          7                 So, Tom, would you be good enough to

          8  please tell us, hey, how did that happen?

          9                 MR. McMAHON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         10  As you said, before the members is what we call the

         11  gap sheet, which combines the resources in Fiscal

         12  Year 2000 that were funded from a combination of

         13  actions in Fiscal Year 1999 and Fiscal 2000.

         14                 As we approached this budget, this

         15  strategy had always been to work collaboratively

         16  with the Administration to identify both the

         17  shortfalls in the budget and the needs that were

         18  priorities of the City Council we wanted funded in

         19  the budget.

         20                 So what we have done is taken sort of

         21  a big picture look at what has transpired since the

         22  Mayor's Executive Budget was released. And that is

         23  what you see in the top part of this piece of paper,

         24  these are the needs and the priorities that have

         25  surfaced over the course of the negotiations of the
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          2  past few months and in fact going back to a release

          3  of the January Plan five months ago, and I will run

          4  through them briefly and then answer any questions

          5  that you might have.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Tom, do me a

          7  favor and run through it briefly.

          8                 MR. McMAHON: The gap as per the

          9  Executive Budget, as we all know was zero. Since

         10  that number, things happened. The elimination of the

         11  commuter tax in Albany put a cost on the City of 360

         12  million. We identified as a priority the

         13  continuation of a co-op and condo abatement program

         14  for a cost of $166 million.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Just a second. If

         16  you remember during the time that we spent

         17  downstairs, this was like University agreed upon as

         18  being one of the items that we wanted to fund.

         19                 Go ahead.

         20                 MR. McMAHON: Secondly was the earned

         21  income tax credit, the cost of $48 million. Both of

         22  these require Albany action where we are confident

         23  that we are able to get these bills passed in Albany

         24  in a relatively short time.

         25                 Next on the list is a reduction of a
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          2  Fiscal 2000 property tax levy as a result in

          3  challenges to assessments. Since the tentative role

          4  came out in January, many property owners have the

          5  right to challenge their assessments. As a result of

          6  those successful challenges, the amount of money we

          7  projected to receive from the property tax levy has

          8  been reduced by $51 million.

          9                 We made a number of adjustments to

         10  the budget, funding a combination of restoration and

         11  enhanced programs for a cost of $220 million.

         12                 In addition to that, there is $17

         13  million in health-related initiatives that were also

         14  funded, and you will see why that number is broken

         15  out in a few seconds.

         16                 And then, finally, there is a net in

         17  terms of the education needs, a number of $52

         18  million. The majority of this was the $80 million in

         19  expense items, on the Expense side of the budget

         20  which needed to be funded in order to expand the

         21  Board of Ed's capital program.

         22                 All of those actions totalling

         23  together the $914 million. We identified it as a

         24  problem that needed to be solved.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, let us
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          2  go over this list now. Does anybody have any

          3  question, now what is included in any of these

          4  charges against the budget?

          5                 Tom, do you want to explain the

          6  educational needs?

          7                 MR. McMAHON: It is a net number as I

          8  said, of some surpluses that they had in health

          9  insurance and in fringe benefits against the

         10  priority of identifying $80 million in capital

         11  money.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Colonel

         13  Rodriguez.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: I just have

         15  a few short questions.

         16                 On this reduction for the FY property

         17  tax levy, you had estimated or the Administration

         18  estimated the revenue, didn't they have an allowance

         19  for something like this happening? Doesn't this

         20  reoccur every year?

         21                 MR. McMAHON: This is in addition to

         22  the reserve that is created. This is strictly

         23  against the levy, the result of challenges and

         24  assessments.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: No, no, I
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          2  understand that. Doesn't this happen every year?

          3                 MR. McMAHON: This happens every year

          4  and there is a number built in to what that

          5  challenge would be, and we underpredicted it.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Okay. What

          7  was the reserve. Do you know the reserve amount?

          8                 MR. McMAHON: The reserve stays in the

          9  neighborhood of -- it is slightly more than $500

         10  million actually. This was a need beyond that. And

         11  it was a need that our staff concurred in.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Okay. And

         13  the continuation of the co-op and condo abatement,

         14  now we are now going to have the reduction in that

         15  tax?

         16                 MR. McMAHON: We will have a reduction

         17  in that tax, as identified in this budget that we

         18  are expected to enact. We will need Albany

         19  legislation, authorizing the program to --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Now, the

         21  Mayor last week, Friday and the Speaker, had

         22  mentioned that they were still suing with regard to

         23  the $360 million commuter tax in that this is being

         24  put on the side, that is no longer the case?

         25                 MR. McMAHON: That is no longer the
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          2  case, no.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: So, what is

          4  on the side now?

          5                 MR. McMAHON: Well, it's on the side

          6  of the host of menu of tax reduction --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I think it was

          8  child care credit items, is that what you are

          9  referring to, Mr. Rodriguez?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Well, it

         11  was $360 million, and this was one of the items that

         12  was supposedly put on the side, today it is not on

         13  the side and I just wanted to know what got put on

         14  the side as a result of this.

         15                 MR. McMAHON: As the Chairman said,

         16  the child care credit, the mortgage recording tax

         17  reduction for first time home buyers, and a menu of

         18  other tax reductions that we had put together as

         19  part of our March response that focused on economic

         20  development, you know, making work pay and target

         21  tax reductions for middle class home buyers.

         22                 So, all of those were put on the

         23  side.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: And is

         25  prepayment or early retirement of debt, is that
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          2  something that is also put on the side?

          3                 MR. McMAHON: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Thank you

          5  very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Tracy.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Can you go

          8  over a little detail, the educational needs. You

          9  said the capital plus net; what happened to the

         10  surplus that was already accrued from -- we were

         11  talking about that he had a large surplus that he

         12  was going to roll over into --

         13                 MR. McMAHON: The Board of Education

         14  for the past few years has had a large surplus that

         15  they have been using to cover needs in the next

         16  fiscal year, and the City has allowed it, and we

         17  have allowed the Board to keep that surplus and use

         18  it for new needs in the coming fiscal year.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: What was the

         20  surplus amount? Do you remember the surplus amount?

         21                 MR. McMAHON: This current year it

         22  will be 120 million. Last year it was 195.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I am sorry,

         24  go ahead.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Any other
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          2  questions?

          3                 All right, so let us now go to the

          4  gap-closing program below that. This basically will

          5  tell you how we arrived at the dollars necessary to

          6  fund the gap in the Executive Budget.

          7                 MR. McMAHON: Working collaboratively

          8  with the Office of Management and Budget and with

          9  the Administration, what we agreed to was this

         10  gap-closing program. Essentially is the elimination

         11  of the Mayor's tax deduction program that was

         12  presented with the Executive Budget, an increase in

         13  Fiscal Year 1999 revenues over and above what was

         14  anticipated when the Executive Budget was presented,

         15  an increase in miscellaneous revenues which are the

         16  whole host of fees and fines and interests on assets

         17  that the City has.

         18                 Next is the TANF aid that we

         19  anticipate getting for the earned income tax credit.

         20  TANF, as you know, is the Temporary Assistance for

         21  Needy Families acronym related to the welfare reform

         22  program.

         23                 The tobacco resources to cover health

         24  care needs are related to the health initiatives

         25  that we articulated above as part of the Council
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          2  adjustments. There was a debt service savings in the

          3  current fiscal year of 20 million, a 75 million

          4  adjustment to prior year payables. Prior year

          5  payables as you know are an adjustment to prior year

          6  costs. Those costs came in lower than anticipated,

          7  generating 75 million, $72 million was in the

          8  miscellaneous budget, savings related to pension

          9  costs and labor costs. The labor number was

         10  something that we had identified last year so we are

         11  confident that it is there. And finally, to balance

         12  out the plan, where a small number of adjustments

         13  within the agency is netting out to $2 million,

         14  generating the $914 million that were necessary to

         15  balance the Fiscal 2000 budget in a way that we

         16  could support.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Questions? Not a

         18  one? Okay. Thank you.

         19                 Where is Claude? We can vote on the

         20  sales tax issue.

         21                 All right, we are going to now vote

         22  on the resolution authorizing the elimination of the

         23  sales and use tax on clothing and footwear purchases

         24  costing $110 or less in the City of New York

         25  beginning December 1st.
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          2                 Does this have a number, or is it

          3  just a resolution? All right, ladies and gentlemen,

          4  may we vote, please.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Berman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I am going to

          7  excuse myself temporarily just so I can say one

          8  thing, that this is the realization of a program

          9  enunciated by the Council about five to six years

         10  ago that in the passage of time everybody has

         11  forgotten. This Council a number of years ago came

         12  out in support of the elimination of sales tax in

         13  general and as a fall-back position we indicated

         14  that it should be under $100, and at that time

         15  people around the City and the State said we were

         16  out of our minds that this is something that could

         17  never be and that we shouldn't even think this way.

         18  So, I am proud of the fact that the Council again

         19  has been proven visionary and it has been proven

         20  accurate and correct in what we then predict it

         21  should be and now we are experiencing that

         22  realization.

         23                 So this is an important vote, it is

         24  also an indication of an early policy of this

         25  Council, as many of the things that are happening
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          2  now take place, you will find out that they were

          3  first enunciated here.

          4                 So, having said that now, I am

          5  pleased to vote aye on the elimination of the sales

          6  tax.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Leffler.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Aye.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Foster.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: O'Donovan.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER O'DONOVAN: Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Wooten.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Robles.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: McCaffrey.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Rodriguez.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Stabile.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Aye and it is

         23  about time.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN:  I want to thank

         25  you for that post script.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: The vote stands

          3  at nine in the affirmative, and it is still open.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It is still open.

          5  All right, so the vote is still open. In the

          6  meantime what I would like to now do is to give out

          7  the budget documents to everybody and recess for

          8  several minutes while everybody frantically goes

          9  through the budget to make certain that that which

         10  has been previously requested is in the fact in the

         11  budget.

         12                 So I now invite you to participate in

         13  the stampede.

         14                 We are in recess.

         15                 (Recess taken.)

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, ladies

         17  and gentlemen, if I can have your attention. Would

         18  you particularly get the members of the Finance

         19  Committee assembled. Stan. Victor.

         20                 All right, would the Sergeant-At-Arm

         21  ring the bell and call downstairs, we are starting

         22  to vote on the budget items.

         23                 All right, if I can have your

         24  attention. Somebody go over to Mr. Ognibene's Office

         25  and get Mr. Stabile, please, and tell him we are
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          2  starting. It is amazing, one word out of me and

          3  nothing happens. Or at least somebody call Mr.

          4  Ognibene's Office.

          5                 All right, ladies and gentlemen, you

          6  have all had ample time in which to review the items

          7  before you. If anybody is at all interested, the

          8  memorandum of understanding on the $6 million

          9  appropriation for school improvement, I have a copy

         10  of it, at the conclusion you are welcome. But any

         11  time during this process you are welcome to read it.

         12  You know, just come up here and sit down and we will

         13  deal with it.

         14                 Now, in the meantime we have to

         15  proceed. All right, we have now before us the

         16  following documents for a vote. M542 and two

         17  resolutions, which is a communication from the Mayor

         18  submitting the Expense Revenue contract for Fiscal

         19  Year 2000 pursuant to section 249 of the New York

         20  City Charter. We have M-544 also with two

         21  accompanying resolutions, which is a communication

         22  from the Mayor submitting the Executive Capital

         23  Budget for Fiscal Year 2000, pursuant to 249 of the

         24  New York City Charter. We have M558 and the

         25  accompanying resolution, which is a communication
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          2  from the Mayor submitting the certificate setting

          3  forth the maximum amount of debt and the reserve

          4  which is New York City Finance Authority and New

          5  York City Municipal Water Finance Authority, the New

          6  York State Dormitory Authority and the New York City

          7  Health and Hospitals Corporation, may soundly incur

          8  for capital projects for Fiscal Year 2000 and the

          9  ensuing three fiscal years, and the maximum amount

         10  of appropriation and expenditures for capital

         11  projects which may soundly be made during each

         12  fiscal year, pursuant to Section 250, subdivision 16

         13  of the New York City Charter.

         14                 We likewise have before us M548 and

         15  accompanying resolution, which is a communication

         16  from the Mayor submitting the proposed City Fiscal

         17  Year 2000 Community Development Program, the

         18  proposed CFY 2000 budget to propose reallocation for

         19  CD 25 funds, proposed CD 26 statement of objections

         20  and budgeted, dated April 22nd, 1999.

         21                 We have the Report of the Committee

         22  on Finance in favor of approving the resolution of

         23  the Council of the City of New York fixing the tax

         24  rate for Fiscal Year 2000, adopted June 7th, 1999,

         25  upon the recommendation of the Committee on Finance
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          2  of the Council. We have the resolution computed and

          3  certifying base percentage and current base

          4  proportion of each class of real property for Fiscal

          5  2000 to the State Board or Real Property Services,

          6  formerly the State Board of Equalization, pursuant

          7  to Section 1803 Subdivision 8 of the Real Property

          8  Tax Law, and finally, we have a resolution computing

          9  and certifying the adjusted base proportion of each

         10  class of real property for fiscal 2000 to the State

         11  Board of Real Property Services, pursuant to Section

         12  1803, subdivision 8 of the Real Property Law.

         13                 Now, are there any questions? I just

         14  want to again emphasize that the documents now

         15  before you are the documents which for the last

         16  several weeks we have painstakingly arrived at by

         17  going over time and time again the various items for

         18  both additions and subtraction from the budget.

         19  These contain the items that you lobbied over and

         20  requested, and you have now had the opportunity to

         21  go through to make certain that the items that you

         22  covet in our districts, in your boroughs and in this

         23  City have hopefully been included in the budget.

         24                 I again want to say that if anybody

         25  is interested, I have a copy of the MOU signed by
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          2  the Mayor and the Speaker concerning the usage of

          3  the $6 million. If you give me a moment I will try

          4  to find it. I have it here. And if there are no

          5  questions, then we can proceed to vote.

          6                 Are there any questions?

          7                 All right, let us proceed to vote.

          8                 Claude.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Berman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Spigner.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Spigner, how

         13  do you vote?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Pass.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Foster.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Aye on all.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Leffler.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes, may I

         19  please be excused to explain my vote?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Leffler.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Everything is

         22  relative. One's appraisal of the worth of this

         23  budget depends upon what one wants from a budget,

         24  and what one's standard is.

         25                 If one's standard is to -- what is
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          2  the Council impact on the budget process? Well,

          3  there has been more substantial impact than in past

          4  years in terms of the $166 million of restorations

          5  and approximately $85 million of additions, but if

          6  one is looking at a budget to fundamentally address

          7  the possibilities of what we can do here, then I

          8  think this budget is fundamentally flawed, flaws

          9  that are masked by the surplus revenues from the

         10  Fiscal Year '99 budget good economic times which is

         11  enabling us to do what I previously referred to.

         12                 Basically we are sitting on an

         13  enormous one-shot surplus of over $2,500,000,000,

         14  and this should have been used at least in good part

         15  to put the City on a better long-term financial

         16  footing, basically to retire debt and to reduce the

         17  structural deficit. That was something as to which

         18  the Council took particular pride last year. In

         19  terms of consistency of principle, I don't see it

         20  here.

         21                 I think that those who believe that

         22  this is a good budget are being bought off too

         23  cheaply. If you really think that we are to be an

         24  equal partner in government, it seems to me that we

         25  should take responsibility for the entire $35
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          2  billion budget, rather than basically for an $85

          3  billion add-on.

          4                 We didn't even have a detailed

          5  proposal as to what we would like to do here.

          6                 It is easy to pass a budget by June

          7  5th or June 7th, if that is one's major objective,

          8  but the real question is what is in the budget. And

          9  in terms of doing more than basically operating with

         10  a base lined budget that we have given, I think

         11  there is a lot still here to be desired and I will

         12  comment more on that on the floor. I vote aye on

         13  all.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Leffler, I am

         15  sorry we couldn't arrive at the price to buy you

         16  with, you say we bought you too cheaply, but I would

         17  also comment, Mr. Leffler, that there is a reserve

         18  fund of $429 million which is extraordinarily --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: That reserve

         20  fund is in the current year's budget as well.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That's right.

         22  That doesn't mean that we should necessarily double

         23  it, triple it or quadruple it.

         24                 And also the revenue forecasts for

         25  the next fiscal year are extraordinarily
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          2  conservative.

          3                 Okay, let's continue the vote. Thank

          4  you, Mr. Leffler.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Michels.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr. Chairman,

          7  may I be temporarily excused to explain my vote?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Michels.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Not only do I

         10  think it is a good budget, but I am also going to

         11  vote for it, which is quite unusual in the rhetoric

         12  here. And I think we can be very proud of this

         13  budget, as I understand it is the highest number

         14  that has ever been, as far as what we are involved

         15  with for $245 million. I think everybody here

         16  deserves a lot of credit and a lot of praise and I,

         17  for one, am very pleased, and it just goes to show

         18  you what you can do when you have cooperation. And

         19  the best thing about this budget is, not only is it

         20  the highest amount, but it is going to be spent,

         21  unlike last year, and therefore, I vote aye. Thank

         22  you.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Dear.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEAR: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: O'Donovan.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER O'DONOVAN: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Wooten.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Robles.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: I would like

          7  to explain my vote. I would have normally voted just

          8  aye and move ahead, but I must say I am still

          9  recuperating from what I heard.

         10                 But let me just say this, if being

         11  cheap means that those who depend upon health

         12  services and the health system, and this is the

         13  first time I have seen where we were able to council

         14  action, not cut into what they do but rather restore

         15  it, and in addition to that help to expand those

         16  services, then I am proud to be chief in what I am

         17  doing.

         18                 If Youth Services which is the first

         19  time in 14 years that I have been on this Council is

         20  the first time not only was that $20 million that

         21  was the typical number, not only is it there, but

         22  for the first time in 14 years our young people can

         23  now look to an institution that says that we just

         24  don't --  or we practice what we preach because we

         25  do a lot of talking around the City of New York,
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          2  then I have no problem with being cheap.

          3                 And having said that, then I have to

          4  qualm with voting on this cheap budget and I vote

          5  aye in terms of this budget.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: McCaffrey.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Miller.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Mr. Chairman,

         10  if I may be temporarily excused to explain my vote.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: I have been

         13  advised that I need to disclose the fact that my

         14  father and my fiance are members of the Board of

         15  Directors of South 40, which is a group that does

         16  prison rehabilitation which received a contract with

         17  the city in this budget. I didn't have anything in

         18  particular to do with them in getting this money,

         19  but I would also appreciate it if no one in this

         20  room told either my father or my fiance that.

         21                 With that, I vote aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Spigner.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Mr. Chairman,

         24  I passed earlier when my name was called because

         25  there is one omission as it relates to my district
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          2  that is of concern to me, but I do believe that we

          3  will be able to correct that clerical oversight, if

          4  not earlier, at least in November when we have a

          5  chance to review some of the shortcomings and

          6  miscalculations, as we usually do.

          7                 Thank you. I vote aye.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Spigner.

         10                 Ms. Eisland? She was here a moment

         11  ago.

         12                 Ms. Pinkett.

         13                 Okay, I again want to indicate that

         14  if anyone is interested in seeing the memorandum of

         15  understanding signed by the Mayor and the Speaker

         16  relative to the $6 million I have a copy of it.

         17                 Please hold the vote open for --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Do you want

         19  me to vote, Herb?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Oh, I am sorry.

         21  Mr. Stabile it wouldn't be --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: I am the only

         23  republican on the Finance Committee.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That is the

         25  reason why we are not letting you vote.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: I would like

          3  to be excused for a second.

          4                 You know, I think the bottom line is

          5  what we deliver to our constituency, and if it is

          6  being bought off cheap or whatever, or whatever else

          7  anyone wants to say, take a look at this City, look

          8  around, look at some of the things my colleagues

          9  said about health and youth, but the bottom line is

         10  what we can deliver and what we can bring home

         11  through our constituency. That is what counts. That

         12  is really what counts, and if anyone here takes it

         13  seriously enough, what you bring home to your

         14  district is the bottom line.

         15                 I am proud to vote yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, before you

         17  announce the vote, we are going to the floor

         18  promptly at 3:30, it is now five after three.

         19                 We are holding the vote open for Ms.

         20  Eisland and Ms. Pinkett, and would you be good

         21  enough to announce the vote?

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: The vote stands

         23  at 15 in the affirmative, none in the negative and

         24  no abstentions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: The budget items
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          2  and all the related items are therefore passed, and

          3  we can go to the floor at 3:30.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 3:10 p.m.)
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